IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

ALAN CHEEK,

Petitioner,

vs.

DOCKET NO. 68,563

McGOWAN ELECTRIC SUPPLY COMPANY,

Respondent.



PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

M. Stephen Turner CULPEPPER, PELHAM, TURNER & MANNHEIMER 300 East Park Avenue Post Office Drawer 11300 Tallahassee, FL 32302 904/681-6810

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Alan Cheek ("Cheek") was defendant below in an action at law brought by McGowan Electric Supply Company ("McGowan Electric") on a promissory note given by Cheek to pay the balance on a special account guaranteed by Cheek for materials used on his jobs by an electrical subcontractor named Thomas Cook. Cheek believed he owed the account balance when he gave the note as payment.

As the First District Court of Appeal noted in its first decision in this matter:

The suit began as a common law action to collect an account stated which was evidenced by a promissory note. The defenses pleaded . . . were:

- (1) The promissory note was mistakenly given as payment of an account balance for which (Cheek) had no liability since charges to the account in excess of payments were not in compliance with the conditions and restrictions of the account or (Cheek's) guaranty;
- (2) (Cheek) should be discharged from liability because (McGowan Electric) knowingly (made) charges to the account which were not included in the guarantee of (Cheek).

Cheek v. McGowan Electric Supply Company, 404 So.2d 834, 835 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). (Separate Appendix, A 1-4). The case had come on for trial and a jury was regularly impaneled, but after conclusion of all the evidence, the trial court had withdrawn the case from the jury and decided the issues non-jury. [A:2].

Cheek appealed that decision to the First District Court of Appeal, which reversed the trial court and remanded the cause for a jury trial on all issues. 404 So.2d at 837.

On remand, prior to the jury's deliberations, the trial court convened a conference to consider the appropriate jury charges and verdict form.

The special verdict form prepared by the Court [R:792-93; A:17-18] reflected the two separate defenses in parts "A" and "B" of question 1, requesting the jury to determine whether there were charges to the guaranty account:

- A) "Which were not within the contemplation of the agreement between the parties?" (first defense improper charges)
- B) "Which McGowan Electric knew or should have known were improper?" (second defense discharge)

An affirmative answer to part A was a finding in favor of the meaning of the guaranty agreement advanced by Cheek, that he was not responsible for charges unless the materials were used in his jobs. [A:8]. By finding for Cheek on this defense, the jury rejected McGowan Electric's suggested meaning that charges were improper only if McGowan knew or should have known that the materials were not going to Cheek's jobs. [A:10].

The jury was instructed to answer question 2 as to the dollar amount of improper charges if they answered "yes" to either question 1A or 1B or both. [R:861; A:5,11].

The jury was then told if they answered "yes" to question 1B that McGowan Electric knew about the improper charges (the discharge defense), they should answer questions 3 and 4 as to whether Cheek acted reasonably to avoid improper charges, and if not, what was the percentage of fault that should be assigned each party. [R:861-62; A:11-12].

On the face of the verdict form, the direction plainly appears that only if jury affirmatively answers question 1B (discharge defense) should they answer questions 3 and 4 relating to comparative fault. [R:358, A:6].

Likewise, the jury was instructed that Cheek's duty to use reasonable care related to McGowan Electric's duty to disclose debtor misconduct if the jury found for Cheek in answer to question 1B (discharge defense). The guaranty agreement did not require Cheek to monitor the account or impose any other duty on him regarding account activities; and the jury was not charged that Cheek had any duty of care in relation to question 1A (contract defense that Cheek did not owe improper charges beyond the terms of the guaranty). [R:855-58; A:7-9].

Because McGowan Electric had not pled or presented any matter of avoidance to Cheek's affirmative defenses, counsel sought definitive clarification from the trial court when it injected the issue of comparative fault with respect to the discharge defense. [R:783,788,796,802,805].

Cheek was first assured that any duty on Cheek to use reasonable care applied only to the creditor's failure to inform of the debtor's misconduct under the second (discharge) defense, and would have no effect on Cheek's first defense of entitlement to offset credit for all improper charges beyond the terms of his guaranty.

[R:783-784]:

MR. TURNER: What in the world is this?
What are you charging? I
don't follow this. This is
under the misconduct?

THE COURT: Yes.

* * *

MR. TURNER: The first thing that needs to be made clear is that this is separate from the other one. . . .

THE COURT: I did that. The Defendant Cheek's next defense. Do you have any objection to that charge?" (e.s)

Then Cheek's counsel also clarified that the comparative fault verdict questions would not adversely affect a finding for Cheek of entitlement to an offset credit for improper charges not owed under the guaranty agreement under the first defense. [R:796-799]:

MR. TURNER: Let me understand where we are coming from. There (are) two defenses. One defense is mistake.

I don't have to prove the other defense at all. I just have--mistake is good or failure of consideration.

THE COURT: That is right. It has got

one and two. You can

answer yes or no on both of

them.

MR. TURNER: Suppose the jury found on

(the first affirmative defense) and they stated

\$15,000.

THE COURT: Then that is it.

MR. TURNER: Then we don't get into

negligence or anything like

that?

THE COURT: That is right.

MR. TURNER: Help me go through that....

THE COURT: All right. There are two

issues in this case.

First, it is on the agreement, the meaning of the agreement. Were there charges made to the guaranty account guaranteed by the defendant Cheek which were not within the contemplation of the parties. In other words, if they find, as you assert, that they have to be used in the job, then they check yes. If they answer yes . . . then, we go to the next defense. . . Then they are told that if the

answer to (the second affirmative defense) is yes, then to answer the others. If the answer to (the second affirmative defense) is no,

then just date and sign the

verdict.

* * *

MR. TURNER:

... You are saying if my interpretation is correct, then we don't need to get into fault-comparative fault. Is that what you are saying?

THE COURT: If they choose yours on your first ground, we don't get into any of that. are instructed not to

answer it.

Counsel next clarified that the jury could find for Cheek on both affirmative defenses, and that the trial court in such case would give effect to the discharge defense embodied in the Question B by subtracting the amount of improper charges from the total account charges to determine the amount actually owed under the guaranty, and discharge Cheek from liability for this amount to the extent he was not negligent. [R:803-806]:

> MR. TURNER: Where are we if the jury checks (both affirmative

defenses)?

THE COURT: All right.

MR. TURNER: Suppose the jury says, 'I think Mr. Cheek is right and I think both

circumstances--'

THE COURT: On both grounds.

MR. TURNER: Yes, sir. Because that could happen, conceivably, the way I believe the

evidence shows.

THE COURT: All right. If . . . they checked yes on both of them? All right. It says, please answer question number 2. . . . go to number 2, which is to state the amount. Then, it says, if you answered yes on (the

second affirmative defense), answer the following.

But now, . . . the second MR. TURNER:

defense is totally pointless, because it doesn't address proper

charges. . . The

point of failure of the duty to disclose . . . is a discharge of any obligation that would otherwise be proper because it has increased the risk. * * * The point that I am having trouble with is that we are not asking the jury to

determine the amount of proper charges that Alan would be relieved of.

THE COURT: Yes we are, yes we are. We are doing exactly that.

MR. TURNER: You are saying improper

charges. You have only asked the jury to-- I see you are going to subtract. Now I am beginning to see where the Court is coming

from.

THE COURT: When I interpret the

verdict, I will subtract.

MR. TURNER: Okay.

THE COURT: If there is nothing to

subtract, I won't subtract anything. If there is something to subtract, then I will subtract it." (e.s.)

Finally, counsel summarized these points step-by-step for the record through reference to the exact scenario that ultimately occurred, to wit: favorable jury findings on both affirmative defenses and a finding of comparative The trial court explicitly confirmed that in such fault. circumstances Cheek would not be responsible for any

improper charges and would be relieved of the remaining charges to the extent he was not negligent in failing to discover the misconduct. [R:806-807]:

MR. TURNER: All right. Now, let me follow you, because . . . I want to follow it all the way through. Let's assume the jury finds half the charges are improper under defense 1. Then you are saying, okay, those get backed out because those are not within the terms of the guarantee.

THE COURT: That is right.

MR. TURNER: Now, we move to defense 2.

If they find that each party was 50 percent responsible on a failure-duty of failure to inform, then the remainder of the charges would be split 50/50.

THE COURT: Okay. Whatever percent.

* * *

MR. TURNER: So what you are saying is that if they find that there was a failure of duty to inform, then Mr. Cheek would be relieved of whatever percentage that he was not responsible for of any good charges?

THE COURT: That is correct. (e.s.)

The jury found for Cheek on both defenses. [R:375; A:5]. It determined that \$17,163.00 in materials not used for Cheek's jobs were improperly charged to the guaranty account; and having found in answer to question 1B that

McGowan Electric knew or should have known of the improper charge (without informing Cheek), also found Cheek 35% at fault in not acting reasonably to avoid the improper charges.

Despite these special verdict findings in favor of Cheek on <u>both</u> defenses, the trial court entered judgment in McGowan Electric's favor in the amount of \$7,723.93 plus interest, for a total of \$10,492.48. It computed this amount by subtracting from the \$22,622.00 promissory note, 65% of the \$17,163 improper charges or \$11,155, 65% of the account finance charges or \$1,240, and \$3,000 in payments made by Cheek on the note. [R:398-399].

Thus, contrary to the pleadings, jury instructions, verdict form, and assurances made to counsel, the trial court gave effect to only 65% of the full credit due Cheek for improper account charges and gave no effect whatever to the partial credit due him against remaining unpaid charges under the discharge defense.

If full credit is given under the first defense for the improper charges not within the terms of the guaranty agreement, the result is that Cheek owes \$549 plus interest, computed as follows:

- \$22,620 Promissory note to pay account balance.
- -17,163 Improper charges found by the jury.
- -1,908 Finance charges in note.
- \$ 3,549 Amount due after full credit for improper charges (plus recomputed finance charges).
- 3,000 Credit for payments Cheek made on note.
- \$ 549 Amount due when first defense is properly applied plus interest.

When the discharge defense is effected, the result is that Cheek owes nothing, computed as follows:

- \$3,549 Account balance after full credit for improper charges.
- x 65% Discharge percentage.
- \$1,243 Amount owed when both defenses are correctly effected.
- -3,000 Payments on note.
- (\$1,757) Refund due Cheek.

During the proceedings prior to the first (later reversed) trial, Cheek served an offer of judgment for \$4,500 plus interest and costs at pretrial conference on March 19, 1980. [R:410]. On Monday, March 24, 1980, the date of discovery cutoff, ten days before trial, as set by pretrial order, Cheek hand-delivered an amended offer of judgment for \$7,500 plus interest and costs. [R:411].

By post-judgment order, the trial court refused to give effect to either offer because they were not renewed for the second trial, and Cheek's motion to tax his costs and expert witness fees was denied. [R:427-28, 459-62; A:15-16]. The District Court later overruled the trial court's reasoning but upheld the result on the basis that the amended offer was untimely served.

In the same post-judgment order, the trial court denied McGowan Electric's claim for attorneys' fees because it failed to present evidence to the jury relevant to that issue, citing Newcombe v. South Florida Business

Negotiators, Inc., 340 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1976).

[R:427, 438-42; A:15]. Subsequently the trial court

reconsidered and receded from the earlier ruling that McGowan Electric had waived entitlement to attorneys' fees, relying on <u>Taggart Corp. v. Benzing</u>, 434 So.2d 964 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), although noting direct conflict on the issue among the appellate courts of the state.

Cheek appealed and McGowan Electric cross-appealed. By opinion dated August 20, 1985, the First District affirmed the trial court's final judgment and its other post-judgment orders as to costs and attorneys' fees, and also affirmed the cross-appeal (thereby approving the jury finding on the meaning of the guaranty agreement and the amount of improper charges with respect thereto). Cheek v. McGowan Electric Supply Company, 483 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), 10 FLW 2012. [A:19-22]. However, the opinion certified the following question as one of great public importance pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(2)(A)(y):

Where attorneys' fees are pled in a successful suit for recovery pursuant to a promissory note, and the note provides that the maker shall pay 'reasonable attorneys' fees,' may the proof of such fees be presented for the first time after final judgment pursuant to a motion for attorneys' fees by the prevailing party?

On motions for rehearing and clarification [A:23-28], the First District, by opinion dated March 11, 1986, clarified certain misstatements in its opinion regarding Cheek's amended offer of judgment but adhered to its

decisions that Cheek's Amended Offer was not served more than 10 days prior to trial and was therefore ineffective under Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.442. The Court then certified four additional questions as follows:

We do believe, however, that the issues affecting the validity of appellant's March 24 [amended] offer of judgment are of great public importance in view of the current legislative and judicial emphasis on use of the offer-of-judgment procedure as an effective means of settling disputes and reducing litigation, and therefore certify to the Supreme Court the following questions of great public importance:

- 1. Whether an amended offer of judgment relates back to the date of service of the original offer of judgment for purposes of the time requirements in Rule 1.442, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure?
- 2. Whether, when the eleventh day before trial falls on a Saturday, hand delivery of an offer of judgment on the following Monday is effective under Rule 1.442, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure?
- 3. Whether an offer of judgment hand-served on the ninth day before trial is valid where the parties have agreed by pre-trial order that the discovery cut-off date shall be the ninth day before trial?
- 4. Whether an offer of judgment remains valid and outstanding after a new trial has been granted?

483 So.2d at 1378, 11 FLW 612 [A:29].

A notice for review was timely filed with this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Since the jury found for Cheek on both his defenses, he is entitled to a more complete view of the factual background of the controversy than presented in the opinion below.

McGowan Electric is an electrical materials supplier in Tallahassee. [R:684-685]. Cheek is a residential contractor who used one Thomas Cook as an electrical subcontractor on some projects. Cook likewise had regularly dealt with McGowan Electric for his supplies. [R:684-685]. A normal subcontractor relationship existed between Cheek and Cook, and this was known by McGowan Electric. [R:487].

In early 1977, Cook approached Cheek and informed him that McGowan Electric required extra collateral to enable him to continue working on Cheek's jobs. [R:619].

Cheek spoke by phone with McGowan Electric which apparently wanted Cheek to give an unconditional guaranty. [R:748-51]. But Cheek preferred to be responsible only for his job materials. [R:620, 655].

McGowan Electric's comptroller, Mr. Tatum, met with Cheek and agreed the guaranty was only for materials necessary for Cheek's jobs. [R:657,688].

McGowan Electric established a special guaranty account --"Alan Cheek jobs," which the company comptroller acknowledged was only for materials furnished to Cheek's jobs; no other charges were to be made. [R:496; Supp.R:20-25].

Cheek was not asked to provide a job list or anything else nor told anything else was necessary. [R:621-22, 662, 681-82]. Cheek assumed that McGowan Electric had done this many times before, had its own checks and balances, and would take whatever steps were necessary to administer the account and get with Cook for that purpose. [R:622, 654, 657].

Cheek did not request invoices because he could not read the electrical "lingo" and abbreviations used.

[R:622]. McGowan Electric confirmed that general contractors who have account arrangements for electrical subcontractors usually never get invoices. [Supp. R.:45].

Cheek assumed that McGowan had set up similar accounts many times before and knew how to track materials into a job. [R:654, 672]. McGowan Electric admitted that the company had the capacity to determine which jobs materials went to, and could have followed Cook's purchases into the jobs he was working on. [R743-44].

However, the company admittedly did not monitor Cook's materials purchases and did not set up any monitoring procedures. [R:739]. Apparently, McGowan Electric decided to trust Cook to accurately report the purchases charged to the Cheek jobs special account.

McGowan Electric often just automatically charged materials to the Cheek jobs account without anything being said, and usually nothing would be identified when the materials were not going to Cheek's jobs. [R:503,739,744].

Large industrial wire, which could not be used for Cheek's residential jobs, was allowed by McGowan Electric to be charged to the Cheek jobs special account, as well as an excessive amount of commercial wire, only a few feet of which is needed for residences. [R:505, 601-02].

McGowan Electric knew that Cook had not lived up to the conditions of another special account; that he was \$45,000 delinquent on his open account; and that except for one other job, he was not able to charge his non-Cheek job materials. [R:656, 685, 500-01, 496; Supp. R.:28-29, 36].

McGowan Electric also knew that Cook made a substantial charge to the Cheek jobs special account for non-Cheek materials and gave bad checks for a short period thereafter for attempted cash purchases. [R:757-58, 506; Supp.R.:40-45; PX6).

Yet McGowan Electric never apprised Cheek of even a suspicion of Cook's dishonesty. [R:632-33, 638-39, 775].

Several months into the special account, McGowan Electric called Cheek about the account balance, and Cheek would then ask Cook to make payments. [R:630-32]. Cook told Cheek that if joint checks were required, he could not make payroll and would go out of business. [R:678-79]. Cook promised that other monies were coming soon and he would pay the account then. [R:624-767].

Cheek was never informed of the amount of payments made on the account, and he believed that Cook was just not making payments. [R:630-33, 681-82].

Cheek was a one-man operation and had a lot of things going on, and he never suspected foul play. [R:663, 675-76]. Cheek agreed to "ride" with Cook a little longer, but he had no knowledge of any account irregularities. [R:631].

Cheek continued to pay Cook his job draws because he believed Cook was "down" and trusted him. [R:633]. But if he had known Cook was dishonest, Cheek would have closed the account and withheld any further draws and engaged a new subcontractor to avoid further charges. [R:628-39].

After the credit arrangement was terminated, Cheek gave a promissory note to McGowan Electric for the account balance believing that he was in fact obligated to pay that balance as guarantor. [R:645-49].

Later through expert analysis, Cheek determined that substantial improper charges had been made to the account for materials furnished to other jobs. [R:524-29; 582-85].

McGowan Electric acknowledged at trial that all improper charges should be backed out of the Cheek jobs special account even if the company was unaware of their impropriety when the charges were made. [R: 743, 756-57].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

As to the first certified question, attorneys' fees pursuant to contract are part of damages and must be presented to the jury as is required to enforce any other contract provision in an action at law.

The Second, Third, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have squarely held that waiver occurs when a plaintiff does not present a claim for contract attorney's fees to the jury. The defendant's constitutional right to jury trial is abridged if a contract claim is not tried to the jury unless defendant stipulates to that procedure.

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