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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Attorney's Fees

McGowan should be allowed to present evidence of attorney's fees at a postjudgment hearing. The attorney's fees provided by the Cheek/McGowan promissory note, similar to statutory attorney's fees, are not compensation for the injury which gave rise to the action. Instead they are uniquely separable from the cause of action proved at trial and more logically and practically can be determined by the court during a postjudgment hearing. The constitutional right to a trial by jury simply does not apply to an attorney's fee provision of a note any more than it proscribes or limits statutes authorizing attorney's fees to be assessed by the court.

Offer of Judgment

Cheek's amended offer clearly was not valid as it was not served within the time prescribed by Rule 1.442. Nothing in the rule suggests that time requirements for serving an offer should be changed if discovery is permitted to intrude on the 10-day period before trial. To permit the amended offer to relate back to the original offer for timing purposes would open the door to the abusive practice of making timely unreasonable offers followed by tardy amended offers, giving opposing counsel no time for review. Thus, Cheek's amended offer should not be considered valid.

Application of Verdict

The jury's special interrogatory verdict assigning fault to both Cheek and McGowan was correctly applied solely to improper charges made to the Cheek account. The verdict should not be applied to discharge Cheek's obligation to pay for materials actually used in his jobs. The fact that the jury found McGowan responsible in part does not translate to misconduct sufficient to effect a discharge under the law of guaranty.

Directed Verdict in Favor of McGowan

The Court should order a directed verdict for McGowan. The district court was misguided in excusing Cheek from the traditional requirement of proving his affirmative defense of mistake. The record evidence simply fails to substantiate a proper basis for Cheek to be excused of his obligation on the promissory note sued upon by McGowan. The failure by Cheek to prove his affirmative defense of mistake should entitle McGowan to a directed verdict.

Attorney's Fees on Appeal

Finally, the district court should have allowed McGowan's attorney's fees on appeal. Although McGowan's motion did not state the grounds for attorney's fees, Cheek did not object. There is no valid reason that failure to state the grounds for fees should be a jurisdictional flaw rendering the court powerless to consider them. In this case, the legal basis for the fees is not in some obscure statute, but is clearly stated in the promissory note quoted extensively in Appellant's brief to the district court.

ISSUE I

WHERE ATTORNEY'S FEES ARE PLED IN A SUCCESSFUL SUIT FOR RECOVERY PURSUANT TO A PROMISSORY NOTE, AND THE NOTE PROVIDES THAT THE MAKER SHALL PAY "REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEES," MAY THE PROOF OF SUCH FEES BE PRESENTED FOR THE FIRST TIME AFTER FINAL JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO A MOTION FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES BY THE PREVAILING PARTY?

The District Court, relying on Taggart Corp. v. Benzing, 434 So.2d 964 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), on appeal after remand, 451 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), concluded that McGowan was not barred from presenting its claim for attorney's fees in a postjudgment proceeding.

Until recently, it appeared to be a settled concept of Florida jurisprudence that attorney's fees could not be taxed as costs in any cause unless provided for by contract or by statute. Dorner v. Red Top Cab & Baggage Co., 160 Fla. 882, 37 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1948); Shavers v. Duval County, 73 So.2d 684 (Fla. 1954); Lutsch v. Smith, 397 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). The corollary of this rule was simple. If attorney's fees were provided by contract or statute, the trial court was empowered to award attorney's fees incident to its traditional function of setting costs.

A departure from the foregoing rule began emerging with Ronlee, Inc. v. P.M. Walker Co., 129 So.2d 175 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961), and Riess v. Goldman, 196 So.2d 184 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967). In these cases, the Third District reasoned that attorney's fees arising from a contractual provision were not to be awarded as costs; holding rather they were substantive damages arising from a breach

of the contract itself and therefore were determinable by the jury. The Ronlee and Riess decisions have been followed almost uniformly by the Third District.¹ See Commodore Plaza at Century 21 v. Cohen, 350 So.2d 502 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), cert. denied, 362 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1978), and cases cited therein; Machado v. Foreign Trade, Inc., 478 So.2d 405 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

Other districts have followed the lead of the Third District: Newcombe v. South Florida Business Negotiators, Inc., 340 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976), and Holiday Gulf Builders, Inc. v. Tahitian Gardens Condominium, Inc., 443 So.2d 143 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), by the Second District; Mystery Fun House, Inc. v. Magic World, Inc., 417 So.2d 785 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), and Lhamon v. Retail Development, Inc., 422 So.2d 993 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), by the Fifth District.

¹ But see Marrero v. Caverio, 400 So.2d 802 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), where the court permitted attorney's fees based on contract to be recovered in a postjudgment motion even though not pleaded or proved at trial.

On the other hand, the Fourth and First Districts² have reached opposite conclusions: Taggart Corp. v. Benzing, 434 So.2d 964 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), on appeal after remand, 451 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); Cheek v. McGowan Electric Supply Co., 483 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Parham v. Price, 486 So.2d 34 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

How should this Court resolve these conflicting decisions? The cases cited above are not particularly helpful in offering a meaningful and comprehensive analysis of the considerations which should be reviewed incident to a resolution of the issue presented. Some of the factors which the Court should look to are suggested below.

Observance should be made of the traditional distinction between the award of attorney's fees incurred to enforce statutory or contractual rights and the recovery of attorney's fees as an element of damages to compensate for a wrong done. Traditionally, Florida courts have recognized the clear distinction between

² In all candor, the First District appears befuddled by the issue. Compare Cheek v. McGowan Electric Supply Co., 483 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (affirming postjudgment award of attorney's fees based on a contract provision) with Nour v. All State Pipe Supply Co., 11 F.L.W. 1017 (Fla. 1st DCA May 1, 1986) (ignoring Cheek and requiring attorney's fees based on contract to be pled and proved as part of damages claimed) and River Road Construction Co. v. Ring Power Corp., 454 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (holding that attorney's fees based on contract are part of substantive damages for purposes of the offer of judgment rule). The opposite view, voiced by the dissent, is preferred in H. Trawick's Florida Practice and Procedure, § 25-15, n.4 (1985).

attorney's fees awarded as costs incident to the main action and attorney's fees recoverable as an element of damages attributable to the breach, default or wrong sued upon in the main action.

The right to recover attorneys' fees as a part of costs did not exist at common law. Attorneys' fees may not be taxed as costs unless provided for by statute or contract. The award of attorneys' fees being in derogation of the common law, any statute providing for an award thereof must be strictly construed. However, in appropriate cases attorneys' fees may constitute an element of recoverable damages.

Florida National Bank at Gainesville v. Alfred and Ann Goldstein Foundation, Inc., 327 So.2d 110, 111 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976) (citations omitted) (emphasis added). See also Sheridan v. Greenberg, 391 So.2d 234 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); Miller v. Colonial Baking Co. of Alabama, 402 So.2d 1365 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); Charles Stewart Agency, Inc. v. Doisy, 399 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); Ellis v. Flink, 374 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1979) (Boyd, J., dissenting) ("Attorneys' fees may be a proper element of damages when they are incurred in litigation or for legal services other than that involved in the main action, which litigation or other legal services were made necessary by the breach or violation being sued upon."); Glusman v. Lieberman, 285 So.2d 29, 31 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973) (distinguishing attorney's fees recoverable as an element of damages from so-called "pure attorney's fees, or attorney's fees per se" --that is attorney's fees allowed when authorized by statute, by contract or when a fund has been created or brought into court); Solar Research Corp. v. Parker, 221 So.2d 138, 139 (Fla. 1969) (distinguishing

between principles used for determining "attorneys [sic] fees awarded as costs and assessed against the party or parties in litigation" and those used for determining "attorneys [sic] fees earned by a lawyer and due him by his client for legal services rendered.").

Attorney's fees recoverable as an element of damages under these traditional observations and limitations are properly triable by the jury. Accordingly, if such fees are not proved up at trial they are waived just as any other element of damages. By the same token, attorney's fees awardable as "costs" incident to prosecution or defense of the main action pursuant to authority conferred by statute or contract are not traditionally considered elements of damages to be tried in the main action itself.

Under the Newcombe approach urged by Cheek, this traditional distinction is blurred if not eliminated. Moreover, the Newcombe rule will run counter to strong policy considerations.

Irrespective of whether the authority for the award of attorney's fees is conferred by statute or contract, attorney's fees incurred in prosecuting or defending the main action cannot be adjudicated conveniently and practically as part of (and at the same time as) the presentation and resolution of the merits of the underlying controversy. As noted in Taggart:

We do not perceive this to be an unhappy result. To require each side to be put to the proof when both cannot prevail is a waste of time. Furthermore, one of the factors to be considered in arriving at the amount of a

reasonable fee is the outcome. That is obviously an easier task after the fact.

434 So.2d at 966.

Moreover, where the allowance of attorney's fees is predicated on a "prevailing party" test, the interjection of an offer of judgment could have a profound effect on the ultimate determination of which party has prevailed. In such a situation, it is not inconceivable that a jury could award fees to the non-prevailing party.

The fact that a party is likely to continue to incur attorney's fees for undertaking post-trial proceedings likewise presents perplexing problems. If attorney's fees must be proved up at trial on the merits, should the party seeking fees estimate attorney's fees expected to be incurred during the post-trial proceedings? Alternatively, the proceeding could be bifurcated and the jury could be re-empaneled after all post-trial effort has been expended for finalization of the attorney's fees award. While bifurcation might work, the expense attendant such a process could prove prohibitive.

Finally, what happens to attorney's fees awarded on appeal? Must the jury which heard and determined the initial fee award be re-empaneled to adjudicate the appellate fees? Clearly, applying the Newcombe rationale, appellate attorney's fees are equally a part of the "damages" sustained and must be determined by the jury.

It is respectfully submitted that the procedure employed under the reasoning and rationale of Taggart avoids all of the policy

pitfalls referenced above. The adjudication of attorney's fees in a post-trial proceeding can readily accommodate all of these considerations. See Vaughan v. Progressive American Insurance Co., 435 So.2d 889 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). This is reason alone to commend the Taggart rationale for adoption by this Court.

This Court's recent decision in Finkelstein v. North Broward Hospital District, 484 So.2d 1241 (Fla. 1986), accommodates certain policy considerations inherently favoring postjudgment determination of attorney's fees and should be expanded to include fees derived from contractual provisions as well.

Finkelstein holds that a statutory attorney's fee provided to a prevailing party in a medical malpractice action could be determined in a postjudgment motion where the final judgment did not expressly reserve jurisdiction to award attorney's fees and the motion for fees was filed after the time to appeal the final judgment had expired. At first blush, the application of Finkelstein to the issue at hand may seem somewhat removed. Close scrutiny, however, proves illuminating.

In reaching its conclusion in Finkelstein, the Court adopted the reasoning and holding of the United States Supreme Court in White v. New Hampshire Department of Employment Security, 455 U.S. 445 (1982) to the effect that a "postjudgment" motion for prevailing party attorney's fees raises a "collateral and independent claim." Finkelstein, 484 So.2d at 1243. In the words of the U.S. Supreme Court:

[42 U.S.C.] Section 1988 provides for awards of attorney's fees only to a "prevailing party." Regardless of when attorney's fees are requested, the court's decision of entitlement to fees will therefore require an inquiry separate from the decision on the merits --an inquiry that cannot even commence until one party has "prevailed." Nor can attorney's fees fairly be characterized as an element of "relief" indistinguishable from other elements. Unlike other judicial relief, the attorney's fees allowed under § 1988 are not compensation for the injury giving rise to an action. Their award is uniquely separable from the cause of action to be proved at trial. See *Hutto v Finney*, 437 US, at 695 n 24, 57 L Ed 2d 522, 98 S Ct 2565 [sic].

White, 455 U.S. at 451-52.

Since prevailing party attorney's fees can arise from contractual provisions as well as statutory provisions, Finkelstein seems to blaze a trail for postjudgment determination of all such fees. If so, it does not make much sense to have a different rule or procedure for the determination of such fees under a "unilateral" attorney's fees provision as opposed to a "prevailing party" provision. Irrespective of whether the attorney's fees provision is a unilateral provision as in this case or a prevailing party provision as discussed in Finkelstein, the attorney's fees award requires an inquiry separate from and collateral to the merits and it should be treated and resolved postjudgment.

Cheek suggests without any supporting authority that his constitutional right to trial by jury encompasses trial of the attorney's fees issue. This argument is illusory.

The promissory note sued upon by McGowan contained the following provision:

The makers and endorsers hereof each expressly waive presentment, protest, notice of protest and notice of dishonor and agree to pay all costs, including a reasonable attorney's fee, whether suit be brought or not, if after maturity of this note or default hereunder counsel shall be employed to collect this note or any installment of principal or interest due hereunder.

(RX-1) (emphasis added). Clearly, the agreement between the parties indicates that attorney's fees are to be recovered as a part of McGowan's costs. Since "costs" uniformly are not triable by the jury, McGowan's attorney's fees are not triable by the jury. Indeed, if this Court adopts the Newcombe rule and holds that the "cost" designation in the note is obviated by the rationale of that case, it is suggested that practitioners will soon develop attorney's fees provisions substantially as follows:

Maker agrees to pay holder's attorney's fees incurred for the prosecution or collection of this note and such fees shall be determined by the court and not the jury in a proper proceeding after the amount of the principal indebtedness and accrued interest has been determined or adjudicated.

Such a contractual provision would not appear to offend constitutional sensibilities involving the right to trial by jury any more than myriad statutes which authorize attorney's fees to be assessed by the court³; standard arbitration agreements which

³ See § 73.091, Fla. Stat. (1985), which provides that the petitioner in an eminent domain proceeding "shall pay all reasonable costs of the proceedings in the circuit court,

eliminate jury trial altogether; or even traditional liquidation of damage clauses or contract limitations on consequential damages which limit the amount of recovery by an aggrieved party. The constitutional right to jury trial simply does not impact the attorney's fees provision of the subject note any more than it proscribes or limits the rights reflected in such statutes.

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